

Lung cancer: the cost of inaction in Latin America

November 2022

This report was developed by The Health Policy Partnership. It was initiated and funded by AstraZeneca.



Contents

1	Executive summary			
2	Lung cancer: the need for urgent action4			
3	Lung cancer in Latin America: understanding the challenge			
	3.1	Significant disparities in incidence and mortality7		
	3.2	Smoking and other risk factors8		
	3.3	Shifting trends for men and women9		
	3.4	The underlying health system context9		
4	Imple	ementing early detection in Latin America10		
	4.1	The need for a comprehensive approach10		
	4.2	Targeted screening in high-risk individuals using low-dose computed tomography 11		
	4.3	Incidental nodule detection through chest X-rays, aided by artificial intelligence 14		
	4.4	Rapid referral pathways14		
5	Making it happen: key success factors for implementation1			
6	Appendices			
Арр	pendix	1. Lung cancer incidence and deaths by country ⁴⁴		
		2. EGFR mutations in non-small-cell lung cancer in seven Latin American		
7	Refer	rences		



1 Executive summary

Lung cancer is currently the leading cause of cancer-related deaths in the world, and this is an increasing reality in Latin America. Lung cancer accounts for 12% of all cancer deaths in the region and causes more deaths than any other cancer in both men and women.¹⁻³

Despite its huge public health and economic burden, lung cancer has traditionally been poorly recognised as a policy priority. Few Latin American countries have specific targets for lung cancer, and targets that do exist are not necessarily monitored for progress over time. There is limited awareness in the general public and policymakers of treatment advances made in the past few years – lung cancer is still often seen as a death sentence and is typically surrounded by a culture of silence and stigma.⁴ And most importantly, lung cancer is often detected at later stages when prognosis is poor.

The most effective way of reducing the burden of lung cancer is through effective smoking cessation and anti-tobacco policies, but early detection is also essential. Tobacco consumption in Latin America fell significantly from 28% in 2000 to 16% in 2020, in part due to successful tobacco control policies in many countries.⁵ However, people who previously smoked remain at high risk of lung cancer for several years after quitting, therefore the prevalence of lung cancer will remain high for many years yet.^{4 6 7} In addition, lung cancer can affect people who have never previously smoked. Early detection is thus an important complement to smoking cessation to optimise outcomes for those whose cancers could not be prevented.

Establishing well-planned early detection pathways for lung cancer care is crucial to reduce mortality. Early detection can take several approaches, but the most effective and evidence-based route is through targeted screening of high-risk individuals using low-dose computed tomography (LDCT). However, this may not be feasible in many countries given the scale of investment and capacity required. Thus, a gradual and comprehensive approach to implementation is needed with solutions tailored to locally available resources, and improvements made across the entire lung cancer care pathway.

Any approach to early detection must also take into consideration the underlying epidemiology and health context in each country. Latin America is a region of significant socioeconomic and ethnic diversity. The epidemiology of lung cancer varies considerably between countries, as does the underlying health context and availability of health resources.⁴ All these factors must be carefully weighed in to ensure the implementation of early detection is feasible, appropriate and equitable, achieving the best impact possible across the entire population.

As the major cause of cancer deaths in Latin America, lung cancer must be recognised as a policy priority. Targeted goals to reduce the burden of lung cancer must be built into national cancer control plans. The benefits of early detection, including large-scale screening programmes, have been seen in cervical cancer, breast cancer, and growingly, colorectal cancer.⁸ Now it is time to turn our attention to driving progress in lung cancer.



2 Lung cancer: the need for urgent action

Cancer is a major and increasing public health concern in Latin America and the Caribbean.^{1 3} Over the past decades, health systems have experienced a shift in disease burden from infectious diseases to non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes and cancer.⁹ The majority of NCD deaths could be prevented or delayed with appropriate policies focusing on NCD prevention and treatment,¹⁰ with early detection as a core component. Recognising this, the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) is working with other countries in the region to reduce premature deaths from NCDs, including cancer, by 25% by 2025. Within its NCD plan of action, PAHO supports the introduction of human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccines and HPV testing to prevent cervical cancer, promotes improvements in quality and access to early diagnosis of breast cancer, and promotes the reduction of tobacco and alcohol use.¹¹

Among NCDs, cancer is the leading cause of death in Latin America and lung cancer causes more deaths than any other cancer in both men and women.¹² There are over 1.4 million new cases of cancer and 600,000 deaths from cancer per year (2020 data).¹ Lung cancer accounts for 12% of all cancer deaths³ with 80,000 deaths per year – and this figure is expected to double in the next decade.¹² The cost of lung cancer to our societies is considerable⁴ ¹³ ¹⁴ – in terms of lives lost prematurely, high costs of care, impaired quality of life and lost productivity for people affected as well as their carers.¹⁵

Despite its considerable burden, lung cancer has traditionally been poorly recognised as a policy priority. Only some Latin American countries (Argentina, Colombia, Costa Rica, Panama, Peru and Uruguay) have specific targets for lung cancer in their national cancer plans.¹⁶⁻²⁰ In Colombia for example, the government's public health plan (Plan Decenal de Salud Pública 2022-2031) included lung cancer as a strategic health problem and set the aim to reduce its mortality to 7% by 2031.^{21 22} A common issue, however, is that progress against stated targets is not routinely monitored due to lags in availability of lung cancer data compared to other cancers.⁴

Attitudes towards lung cancer are also an issue. Lung cancer is often perceived as a self-inflicted condition, and international data suggest this has invariably limited the political will to act.^{4 23} Its association with smoking causes widespread stigma towards people with



lung cancer,^{24 25} and stigma is felt equally by people who have smoked and those who have not.²⁶ There is also limited awareness of treatment advances made in the past few years: lung cancer is often seen as a death sentence and is typically surrounded by a culture of silence.⁴

The most effective way of reducing the burden of lung cancer is through actions oriented towards smoking cessation – but early detection is also essential to optimise outcomes for those whose cancers could not be prevented. Smoking cessation efforts are not an option for people who no longer smoke, or for people whose lung cancer was not caused by smoking. People who used to smoke remain at a three times greater risk of developing lung cancer for up to 25 years after quitting, compared with people who have never smoked.⁶⁷

Early detection must thus be seen as a necessary complement to existing smoking cessation programmes. If detected early, lung cancer is treatable and even curable. Based on international data, a person diagnosed with stage IV (highly advanced) lung cancer has less than a 10% chance of surviving five years after diagnosis; but if diagnosed at stage I (early stage), this increases to between 68% and 92% (Figure 1).²⁷ Early detection could also reduce the costs of lung cancer, as costs are much higher for advanced stage disease. In Mexico, for example, the estimated cost of stage IV lung cancer with targeted therapy is between 1.5 and 2 times higher than the cost of treatment for stages II or III.^{28a} The indirect costs of lung cancer, in terms of productivity losses and informal care, are also particularly high at advanced stages of disease.^{15 29}

^a The estimated cost of lung cancer treatment in Mexico for stage II was \$9 441.6 vs. \$13 419 for stage IV (2000-2016).



Figure 1. Non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC)* is commonly diagnosed at an advanced stage, which is associated with poor prognosis



* Non-small-cell lung cancer accounts for 80-85% of global lung cancer cases.^{31 32}

The need to invest in early detection of lung cancer is significant as most cases of lung cancer are detected late. Across the region, up to 85% of lung cancer cases are found at stage III or IV;⁴ In Brazil, the percentage of people presenting with stage IV lung cancer is estimated at 70%,³³ and this figure is 76% in Colombia³⁴ and 90% in Mexico.³⁵ Reasons behind late presentation are complex and include lack of awareness of lung cancer symptoms, fragmented health systems, and limited resources.^{4 8 36}

The benefits of early detection, including large-scale screening programmes have been seen in other cancers. The current evidence suggests that breast cancer screening reduces the number of deaths from breast cancer by about 1,300 a year in the UK for example.³⁷ Data from different studies suggest the impact of lung cancer screening could be even greater, as fewer screens are required to prevent one lung cancer death compared to breast or colorectal cancer.^{38 39 40} It is estimated that 320 people needed to be screened by low-dose computed tomography to prevent one death from lung cancer, ³⁸ compared to 645–1,724 people need to be screened by mammography to prevent one death from breast cancer. ³⁹ Additionally, PAHO has worked with the Alliance for the Prevention of Cervical Cancer (ACCP) and with the global coalition Cervical Cancer Action to promote and strengthen the prevention and control of cervical cancer. Now it is time to turn our attention to driving similar progress in lung cancer.



The purpose of this document is to look at how early detection of lung cancer could feasibly be implemented in Latin American countries. Latin America is a socioeconomically and ethnically diverse region, encompassing 650 million people spread across 42 countries and territories,⁴¹ many with limited resources. Any proposed action plan must be grounded in the context of each country, keeping in mind local epidemiology, health system capacity and available resources. Drawing on case studies of implementation from across the region, this report presents proven approaches for early detection of lung cancer. We hope it can serve as a starting point for policymakers to build effective early detection programmes into locally appropriate plans and take concrete steps to reduce the burden of lung cancer across the region.

3 Lung cancer in Latin America: understanding the challenge

3.1 Significant disparities in incidence and mortality

The epidemiology of lung cancer varies considerably between countries, affecting people differently across the region. Uruguay, Cuba and Argentina have the highest rates of incidence and mortality, and Central American countries and Guyana have the lowest rates (Appendix 1 and Table 1).³ Lung cancer cases are also increasing in some countries, such as Colombia where the prevalence increased by 10% between 2015 and 2021.³⁴Socioeconomic, ethnic and environmental factors vary considerably across Central, South and Caribbean regions, as well as urban and rural populations;^{41 42} in Mexico for instance, 80% of all lung cancer deaths occur in urban regions. ²⁸ These factors all influence clinical presentation, diagnosis and lung cancer management, manifesting in significant disparities in outcomes for people with lung cancer across the region.^{1 43}

	Estimated number of new cases per year	Percentage of new cases of lung cancer in relation to all cancers (%)	Estimated number of deaths per year	Percentage of lung cancer deaths in relation to all cancer deaths (%)
Central America	NA	NA	9.236	7.3
South America	76.609	7	67.312	12.9

Table 1. The public health impact of lung cancer: incidence and mortality⁴⁴

Latin America and the Caribbean	97.601	6.6	86.627	12.1	

The molecular epidemiology of lung cancer also varies between countries. Understanding the molecular epidemiology of lung cancer provides further understanding and contextual information that is important when developing diagnostic guidelines and treatment plans.⁴² Compared with other regions, Latin America has a particularly high prevalence of two genetic mutations that are associated with a higher risk of NSCLC: epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and Kirsten Rat Sarcoma viral oncogene (KRAS).⁴⁵ Their presence varies considerably: Peru has higher frequency of EGFR mutations than Argentina for instance (see Appendix 2).⁴⁵ Groups such as the Latin American Consortium for the Investigation of Lung Cancer (CLICaP) are working to improve understanding of such region-specific differences in the molecular epidemiology of lung cancer.⁴⁵ This research is important as it can support efforts to improve the availability of biomarkers for diagnostic testing and targeted treatments to make sure they are most likely to have a positive impact in local populations. For example, people with EGFR mutations are most likely to respond to tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI), an important class of treatments for lung cancer.⁴²

3.2 Smoking and other risk factors

Tobacco is the main risk factor for lung cancer and anti-tobacco policies are the most effective way to reduce the burden of lung cancer.¹ Smoking is thought to be responsible for 64% of lung cancer cases in the region,⁴79% of deaths and 80% of medical costs due to lung cancer (based on data from 12 countries^b).⁴⁶ Second-hand smoking accounts for nearly 40,000 lung cancer deaths.⁴⁶ Latin America saw a decrease in the prevalence of tobacco consumption from 28% in 2000 to 16% in 2020, and now has the second lowest prevalence of tobacco consumption globally,⁵ in great part due to successful tobacco control policies in many countries⁴² following the pillars of the WHO Framework Convention on

Health Policy Partnership

^b Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Mexico, Panama, Paraguay, Peru and Uruguay.



Tobacco Control. ⁴⁷ In Chile for example, new laws on limiting tobacco led to a decrease in smoking from 42% in 2003 to 33% in 2017.⁴⁸

Despite this progress, the prevalence of lung cancer will remain high for many years yet. Smoking rates are still increasing in adolescents, and as mentioned previously, people who used to smoke remain at high risk of lung cancer for several years after quitting. ^{4 6 7 49} It follows that the highest lung cancer incidence rates are seen in countries with high past and present smoking rates, namely Argentina, Chile and Uruguay and Argentina.⁵⁰

Smoking is also not the only risk for lung cancer – and lung cancer does not only affect people who smoke. Other risk factors, responsible for over a third (36%) of lung cancer cases, remain a public health concern in their own right. These include residential radon gas, arsenic in groundwater, indoor and outdoor air pollution.⁴ Pollution from wood smoke used as an energy source is a particular concern; in Mexico, for example, 1.5 million homes use wood for cooking and heating.^{4 51} The combined prevalence of these risk factors, along with the presence of EGFR and KRAS mutations, suggests that, even with optimal tobacco control and smoking cessation policies, the burden of lung cancer in Latin America will remain significant in years to come.⁴²

3.3 Shifting trends for men and women

Though smoking prevalence is decreasing, the rising prevalence and mortality from lung cancer in women is a particular concern. Although the last 10 years have seen a general decrease in lung cancer mortality rates in men, mortality rates are rising among women in many Latin American countries.^{3 24 42 52} This is thought to reflect in part different smoking trends between the sexes: in most countries, smoking rates have declined among men, whereas in women they have either remained stable or decreased at a slower rate.⁴² ⁵³ In addition, the international literature suggests that lung cancer develops differently in women compared with men.⁵⁴

3.4 The underlying health system context

It is also important to be mindful of the underlying context for cancer care in each country. Of the 42 countries and territories in the region, 25 are classified as low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), with limited resources and capacity in primary care, specialist cancer care and palliative care.^{4 42} In many countries, cancer control is challenged



by fragmented and poorly joined-up health systems;^{8 55} underdeveloped cancer registries and limited local data and research;³⁶ underfinancing of the public sector, with investment often favouring the private sector;⁸ and significant disparities in access to high-quality diagnosis and care,⁴ with poor outcomes as a result.^{12 36} These factors need to be taken into consideration when assessing the readiness of different countries to implement early detection programmes for lung cancer, and addressed appropriately to ensure their feasibility and successful outcomes.

4 Implementing early detection in Latin America

4.1 The need for a comprehensive approach

Early detection of lung cancer can take several approaches. The most effective means of shifting detection to an earlier stage is through targeted screening of high-risk individuals using low-dose computed tomography (LDCT) – and this is supported by evidence from international randomised clinical trials.^{38 56} However, large-scale implementation of LDCT screening programmes may not be feasible in many countries given the scale of investment and capacity needed – and a combination of approaches should be considered to foster early detection across the entire population (Figure 2). This being said, there are available guidelines that can be adapted in countries depending on local contexts and health systems; for example, the Mexican Society of Oncology (SMEO) and the Mexican Center of Clinical Excellence (Cenetec) developed a Clinical Practice Guideline to support clinicians, patients, policymakers and other stakeholders in the diagnosis and management of NSCLC.³⁵

It is also important that early detection programmes are integrated into all facets of health systems to ensure the best outcomes. They need to work in parallel with smoking cessation and anti-tobacco policies to be optimally effective.^{6 57-61} They also need to be accompanied by appropriate investment into high-quality lung cancer pathways, so that every person in whom lung cancer is detected has the chance to achieve the best outcomes possible.^{23 61-63} Implementation of available local clinical guidelines is also essential.³⁵



Figure 2. A comprehensive approach to early detection of lung cancer



4.2 Targeted screening in high-risk individuals using low-dose computed tomography

Screening of lung cancer takes a targeted approach, focused on high-risk individuals.

There is now cumulative evidence from large-scale clinical trials conducted internationally that targeted LDCT screening can reduce lung cancer deaths by nearly one quarter in high-risk individuals.^{38 56} In the Dutch–Belgian lung cancer screening (NELSON) trial, 18.4% of 868 deaths in the screened group were because of lung cancer, compared with 24.4% of 860 deaths in the control group, who were not offered screening. This equated to a reduction in lung cancer mortality in men of 24% over 10 years.⁵⁶ LDCT screening also resulted in a significant shift to earlier diagnosis, with 59% of cases of lung cancer among people in the screening arm detected at an early stage, compared with 14% in the control group.⁵⁶

In light of these data, there is growing momentum around the world towards implementation of LDCT screening. Several countries are exploring the feasibility of implementing large-scale LDCT screening programmes, and a growing number of governments have committed to national-level programmes. However, Latin American countries have generally been reluctant to adopt LDCT screening owing to a number of



concerns.^c These include: limited and fragmented health system capacity and resources, lack of trained personnel (e.g. radiologists), existing inequities in access to services, gaps in appropriate and timely referral for treatment, and enhanced risk of false positives due to high rates of tuberculosis.⁴ ¹³ ³⁶ ⁶⁴ Another issue is limited awareness of lung cancer symptoms and understanding of the benefits of early detection among the population,⁶⁴ which points to the need for government-sponsored public awareness campaigns aimed at communicating key facts about lung cancer and conveying hope if it is detected early. In light of these concerns, a gradual approach to implementing LDCT screening within a broader focus on improving early detection may be envisaged, focused initially on building suitable local capacity and lung cancer services and gradually progressing towards adoption of screening programmes (Figure 3).

Perform si	tuation analysis of existing lung car	ncer services
Early detection capacity limited LDCT screening absent	Early detection capacity limited Pilot LDCT screening programmes only	Early detection capacity strong Pilot LDCT screening programmes only
 Provide basic diagnostic tests and treatment Focus on early detection capacity Improve awareness Ensure prompt diagnosis and referral 	 Focus on early detection capacity Reduce delays in care Improve coordination between health facilities Consider limiting LDCT screening activities to one demonstration project or stopping LDCT screening 	 Devise programme to strengthen LDCT screening services, focusing on regions with demonstration projects Focus on meeting criteria for organized LDCT screening and high participation rates

Figure 3. Planning early diagnosis and screening according to current capacity⁶²

* Adapted from WHO (2017). *Guide to cancer early diagnosis*.

[°] References and local commentaries to be added following meeting on 27th of October.



There are already some promising pilot LDCT screening programmes underway in the region. Local LDCT screening programmes are currently being piloted in Brazil (Case study 1)⁶⁵ and in 2018 Mexico announced the intended launch of a national screening programme for people with tobacco or wood smoke exposure, though its status is currently unknown.²⁸ Localised adaptations of eligibility criteria for screening can also ensure that only people at highest risk of lung cancer are invited to participate.⁶¹ These localised efforts may help build knowledge about how to implement screening programmes as effectively and cost-effectively as possible, and expand these efforts to wider segments of the population and other regions.

Case study 1^d. Lung cancer screening in Brazil and use of mobile units The benefits of LDCT screening were recently illustrated in the Second Brazilian Early Lung Cancer Screening Trial (BRELT2). Of the 74 people found to have lung cancer, 70% were diagnosed at stage I or II.⁶⁵ However, there are still many barriers to overcome before an organised screening programme can be implemented nationwide, including inequitable access to screening equipment between the public and private sector. To address this challenge, as part of the Propulmão Mobile Project, the municipal health office in Barretos (São Paulo) partnered with the local cancer hospital to pilot delivery of a smoking cessation interventions and mobile LDCT screening in the community.²⁶⁶ Over 3,300 people were estimated to be at high risk of lung cancer in the city and 19 teams were established in primary healthcare centres to deliver interventions. Screening data were shared via an online platform and a direct line of communication was established between the participating clinics and a multidisciplinary team to discuss individual cases for diagnosis and treatment. Both participants and primary care teams reported positive feedback on the pilot,⁶⁶ and as a result, it has recently been expanded to three municipalities in remote areas of the Northeast Region (Bahia and Paraíba).

^d This case study is from <u>Lung cancer screening: learning from implementation</u> report.



4.3 Incidental nodule detection through chest X-rays, aided by artificial intelligence

The identification of lung cancer nodules through chest X-rays performed as part of usual care is an important avenue to find people who may be at risk of lung cancer. There is currently insufficient evidence to advocate for the use of chest X-rays as a population-wide screening tool for lung cancer.⁶⁷ However, often chest X-rays may be used for another purpose, such as to screen for tuberculosis. Artificial intelligence (AI) algorithms can be used to assist radiologists or other healthcare professionals reviewing them to identify incidental pulmonary nodules (IPNs),⁶⁸ and refer them for further diagnostic tests, such as CT scans, to rule out a diagnosis of lung cancer. Case study 2 presents early findings of an AI-assisted tool currently being investigated in Latin America and other areas of the world for the evaluation of chest X-rays in primary care.⁶⁸

Case study 2: Incidental pulmonary nodules in primary care settings⁶⁸

A pilot programme in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Mexico and Panama tested an AI-assisted tool to evaluate chest X-rays in primary care settings in order to identify lung nodules. Chest X-rays were uploaded to an AI framework on the cloud and people with suspected lung cancer cases or suspicious nodules were referred to a pulmonologist, radiologist or surgeon as part of a multidisciplinary care team. There were 20 clinics involved in the pilot and data about health resource utilisation, time to diagnosis, and stages for the positive cases were recorded. The pilot's long-term goals are to implement prospective data collection, expand into further primary care settings and potentially develop a mobile app to assist with diagnosis.

4.4 Rapid referral pathways

Another important way to foster earlier detection of lung cancer is by increasing the speed of referrals to specialist diagnosis. Ensuring rapid diagnosis for lung cancer is essential to allow lung cancer cases to be detected at an early stage,⁶⁹ yet delays in diagnosis are commonplace. ^{28 33 42} Regional data also suggest people often wait up to six



months for treatment after an initial diagnosis of lung cancer.⁴² Rapid referral pathways allow people who present to their primary care physician with suspected symptoms of lung cancer to be rapidly referred for specialist diagnosis and care.⁷⁰ Such pathways are already being explored in different countries in the region and internationally (Case studies 3 and 4).⁷⁰⁻⁷⁴ Additionally, Mexico has suggested to create dedicated centres that allow early and adequate referral of people with suspected lung cancer to tertiary facilities.^{36 75}

Case study 3. Rapid referral pathway in Costa Rica⁷¹

In Costa Rica, a fast-track route between levels of care in the country was established to allow for people with suspected lung cancer to be rapidly referred to appropriate diagnostic testing and treatment. The referral pathway also includes counselling on smoking cessation.

Case study 4: Timed pathways to ensure rapid diagnosis and access to lung cancer treatment in Chile

In 2005 in Chile, the AUGE-GES law was passed by the Ministry of Health, legally enforcing timed targets for access to diagnosis and treatment. The law guarantees that people who are diagnosed with one or more of the health problems included in the AUGE-GES have access to timely, high quality healthcare without discrimination and with adequate financial protection.⁷⁶ Lung cancer is covered by the AUGE-GES: any person aged 15 and over with suspicion of lung cancer must have access to appropriate diagnostic services; people with confirmed cases have access to treatment and follow-up care. Timed targets are also specified: diagnosis must be made within 60 days following initial consultation, treatment must be provided within 45 days of confirmation of lung cancer, and a follow up appointment must be guaranteed 30 days after the end of treatment.⁷⁴



5 Making it happen: key success factors for implementation

Action is urgently needed to reduce mortality from lung cancer in Latin America – and early detection must be a central pillar of these efforts. Governments need to be ready to invest in cancer control if the burden of cancer is to be lessened. This investment will reap dividends in the long term: in terms of lives saved, health system resource-use reduced, and productivity losses avoided. A gradual approach to implementation can help ensure screening programmes are feasible, equitable, and make the most efficient use of existing resources.

To be successful, early detection efforts need to be inscribed in a comprehensive commitment to improving outcomes for people with lung cancer. Targets for lung cancer and mechanisms to ensure regular monitoring of progress against them must be integrated in national cancer plans, research agendas, health system reforms, data collection efforts, workforce planning, and health promotion initiatives – and the entire lung cancer pathway needs to be optimised. (Figure 4). Actions on lung cancer should build on the success of cancer control programmes more broadly – including early detection efforts targeting other cancers – as well as strides made by lung cancer groups (such as CLICaP) to boost research and strengthen cancer registries.^{4 8}

Figure 4^e: Key factors for successful implementation of early detection programmes for lung cancer in Latin America

- Inscribe commitments to reduce lung cancer mortality and increase early detection in national cancer control plans and overall public health strategies.
- Create public awareness campaigns to improve understanding of lung cancer and convey hope that it can often be treated if detected early.
- Strengthen data, research, and data systems to improve understanding of local genetic, environmental and other risk factors within different populations, and build this knowledge into cancer registries.

^e To be designed following meeting on 27th of October.



- Build this understanding of risk into early detection approaches, including eligibility criteria for targeted LDCT screening programmes, to ensure they reach those at highest risk of lung cancer.
- Strengthen smoking cessation provision, and continue to implement all pillars of the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control.
- Address existing gaps and inequities in access to high-quality diagnosis, treatment and care, tackling disparities that arise due to location (urban vs. rural settings), coverage (private vs. public funding), social disadvantage and ethnicity.
- Explore use of artificial intelligence to improve the effectiveness of X-rays and other imagining, which can also help address workforce shortages.
- Improve integration of care for patients, bridging across different disciplines and settings to offer them multidisciplinary, coordinated care that meets the entirety of patients' needs.
- Engage all stakeholders to co-develop feasible, effective and equitable approaches to early detection for lung cancer – including all relevant health professionals involved in treating lung cancer, spanning primary care, public health and smoking cessation specialists, as well as the lung cancer patient community.

In conclusion, advancing early detection of lung cancer should be a key public health goal in Latin America. Although LDCT screening combined with smoking cessation remains the optimal strategy, this may not be feasible in many countries and a more gradual approach may be needed. A combination of different approaches should be used to ensure lung cancer is detected earlier in the population, and factors contributing to late presentation are addressed. The equity dimension should never be forgotten: we need to engage people at the highest risk, which includes all underserved populations regardless of socioeconomic status, so we do not inadvertently exacerbate existing inequalities in lung cancer. Instead, we must aim to shift the detection of lung cancer to an earlier stage across the entire population, leading to a reduction in the number of lives lost over years to come.



6 Appendices

Appendix 1. Lung cancer incidence and deaths by country⁴⁴

Country	Number of new cases	Percentage of new lung cancer cases in relation to all new cancers (%)	Mortality per 100,000 adults	Percentage of lung cancer deaths in relation to deaths from all cancers (%)
Argentina	12.110	9.3	10.729	15.3
Bolivia	971	6.1	874	8.8
Brazil	40.409	6.8	35.160	13.5
Chile	3.969	7.3	3.550	12.4
Colombia	6.876	6.1	6.090	11.1
Costa Rica	408	3.1	374	6.2
Cuba	6.689	14.3	6.173	2.7
Ecuador	1.185	4	1.069	3
Mexico	7.588	3.9	7.100	7.9
Paraguay	936	7.2	854	13
Peru	2.888	4.1	2.595	7.4
Uruguay	1.796	11.4	1.530	17.8
Venezuela	5.276	9	4.694	15.1
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				



Appendix 2. EGFR mutations in non-small-cell lung cancer in seven Latin American countries^{45f}

Country	Number	Frequency (%)
Argentina ⁴⁵	1.713	247 (14.4)
Brazil ³³	NA	NA (25)
Colombia ⁴⁵	1.939	456 (25.2)
Costa Rica ⁴⁵	102	32 (32.7)
Mexico ⁴⁵	1.417	472 (36.7)
Panama ⁴⁵	174	41 (25.5)
Peru ⁴⁵	393	201 (51.1)

^f Using available data for EGFR mutations in Latin America

7 References

1. Barrios CH, Werutsky G, Mohar A, *et al.* 2021. Cancer control in Latin America and the Caribbean: recent advances and opportunities to move forward. *The Lancet Oncology* 22(11): e474-e87

2. Santos R, Franceschini J. 2021. PL03.02 lung cancer screening in Latin America: Current status and challenges. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology* 16(10): S826-S27

3. Piñeros M, Laversanne M, Barrios E, *et al.* 2022. An updated profile of the cancer burden, patterns and trends in Latin America and the Caribbean. *The Lancet Regional Health – Americas* 13: 10

4. The Economist Intelligence Unit. 2019. *Lung cancer screening in Latin America: time to stop looking away.* New York: EIU

5. Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). 2022. *Report on tobacco control for the region of the Americas 2022.* Washington, D. C.: PAHO

6. Tindle HA, Stevenson Duncan M, Greevy RA, et al. 2018. Lifetime smoking history and risk of lung cancer: results from the Framingham Heart Study. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 110(11): 1201-07

7. Lung Ambition Alliance and The Health Policy Partnership. 2021. *Lung cancer screening: the cost of inaction.* London: HPP

8. Strasser-Weippl K, Chavarri-Guerra Y, Villarreal-Garza C, *et al.* 2015. Progress and remaining challenges for cancer control in Latin America and the Caribbean. *Lancet Oncol* 16(14): 1405-38

9. World Health Organization. 2008. *The world health report 2008: Primary health care now more than ever.* Geneva: WHO

10. World Health Organization. 2022. *Invisible numbers: the true extent of noncommunicable diseases and what to do about them.* Geneva: WHO

11. Pan American Health Organization. 2014. *Plan of action for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases in the Americas 2013-2019.* Washington, D.C: PAHO

12. Arrieta O, Zatarain-Barrón ZL, Cardona AF, *et al.* 2022. Uniting Latin America through research: How regional research can strengthen local policies, networking, and outcomes for patients with lung cancer. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*: 10.1200/edbk_349951 (42): 463-69

13. Burotto M, Aren O, Renner A, et al. 2019. Lung cancer in Chile. Journal of Thoracic Oncology 14(9): 1504-09

14. Torres GF, Amaya JA, Buitrago G. 2022. Attributable costs of lung cancer for the Colombian health system: A cost-of-illness study. *Value in Health Regional Issues* 30: 120-26

15. Gibson GJ, Loddenkemper R, Sibille Y, et al. 2013. Lung White Book: the economic burden of lung disease. Sheffield: European Respiratory Society: 16-27



16. Instituto Nacional de Cáncer, Ministerio de Salud y Desarrollo Social. 2020. *Plan nacional de control de cancer 2018-2022.* Argentina: Ministerio de Salud Argentina

17. Caja Costarricense de Seguro Social. 2015. *Plan institucional para la atención del cáncer 2015-2018.* San José: Proyecto de Fortalecimiento de la Atención Integral del Cáncer en la Red de la CCSS

18. Ministerio de Salud. 2019. *Plan estratégico nacional para la prevención y control del cáncer 2019-2029.* Ciudad de Panamá: Ministerio de Salud

19. Ministerio de Salud. 2020. *Plan Nacional de cuidados integrales del cáncer (2020 – 2024).* Lima: Ministerio de Salud

20. Ministerio de Salud Uruguay. 2020. *Objetivos sanitarios nacionales.* Montevideo: Ministerio de Salud Uruguay

21. Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social. 2021. *Lineamientos generales para la formulación del Plan Decenal de Salud Pública 2022-2031.* Bogotá: Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social

22. Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social. 2022. *Resolución número 1035 de 2022.* Bogotá: Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social

23. Wait S, Alvarez-Rosete A, Osama T, *et al.* 2022. Implementing lung cancer screening in Europe: taking a systems approach. *JTO Clinical and Research Reports* 3(5): 100329

24. Flamand L M-JC, Arriaga-Carrasco R. 2012. *Cáncer y desigualdades sociales en México.* Ciudad de México: ECd M

25. Diario y Radio Universidad Chile. 2018. La deuda de Chile con el cáncer de pulmón. Available from: <u>https://radio.uchile.cl/2018/10/21/la-deuda-de-chile-con-el-cancer-de-pulmon/</u> [Accessed 11/08/2022]

26. Brown CG, Brodsky J, Cataldo J. 2014. Lung cancer stigma, anxiety, depression, and quality of life. *J Psychosoc Oncol* 32(1): 59-73

27. Goldstraw P, Chansky K, Crowley J, *et al.* 2016. The IASLC lung cancer staging project: proposals for revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (eighth) edition of the TNM classification for lung cancer. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology* 11(1): 39-51

28. Arrieta O, Zatarain-Barrón ZL, Aldaco F, et al. 2019. Lung cancer in Mexico. Journal of Thoracic Oncology 14(10): 1695-700

29. Luengo-Fernandez R, Leal J, Gray A, *et al.* 2013. Economic burden of cancer across the European Union: a population-based cost analysis. *The Lancet Oncology* 14(12): 1165-74

30. Heist RS, Engelman JA. 2012. SnapShot: non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer cell* 21(3): 448.e2

31. Cancer Research UK. Types of lung cancer. [Updated 28/01/20]. Available from: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/lung-cancer/stages-types-grades/types</u> [Accessed 27/04/21]



32. American Cancer Society. What is lung cancer? [Updated 01/10/19]. Available from: <u>https://www.cancer.org/cancer/lung-cancer/about/what-is.html</u> [Accessed 27/04/21]

33. Araujo LH, Baldotto, C., de Castro Jr, G., et al. 2018. Lung cancer in Brazil. *Jornal Brasileiro de Pneumologia* 44(1): 55-64

34. Fondo Colombiano de Enfermedades de Alto Costo, Cuenta de Alto Costo. 2022. *Situación del cáncer en la población adulta atendida en el SGSSS de Colombia 2021.* Bogotá: CAC

35. Barron F, Guzman E, Alatorre Alexander J, *et al.* 2019. Guía de Práctica Clínica Nacional para el tratamiento del cáncer de pulmón de células no pequeñas en estadios tempranos, localmente avanzados y metastásicos. *Gaceta Mexicana de Oncologia* 17: 201-32

36. Raez LE, Nogueira A, Santos ES, *et al.* 2018. Challenges in lung cancer screening in Latin America. *Journal of global oncology* 4: 1-10

37. Cancer Research UK. Breast screening Available from: <u>https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/breast-cancer/getting-</u> <u>diagnosed/screening/breast-screening</u> [Accessed 15/11/22]

38. Aberle DR, Adams AM, Berg CD, et al. 2011. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with lowdose computed tomographic screening. *New England Journal of Medicine* 365(5): 395-409

39. Canadian Taskforce for Preventive Health Care. 2018. *Breast cancer update: 1000 person tool.* Calgary: CTFPHC

40. Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Ali MU, Warren R, *et al.* 2016. Screening for colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Colorectal Cancer* 15(4): 298-313

41. World Bank. 2020. Population total, Latin America and Carribean Available from: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL?end=2021&locations=ZJ&start=1960&</u> <u>view=chart</u> [Accessed 02/09/22]

42. Raez LE, Cardona AF, Santos ES, *et al.* 2018. The burden of lung cancer in Latin-America and challenges in the access to genomic profiling, immunotherapy and targeted treatments. *Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands)* 119: 7-13

43. Gerson R, Zatarain-Barrón ZL, Blanco C, *et al.* 2019. Access to lung cancer therapy in the Mexican population: opportunities for reducing inequity within the health system. *Salud Publica Mex* 61(3): 352-58

44. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Cancer today. Available from: <u>https://gco.iarc.fr/today/online-analysis-</u>pie?v=2020&mode=cancer&mode population=who&population=900&populations=904&ke

y=total&sex=0&cancer=39&type=1&statistic=5&prevalence=0&population_group=0&ages _group%5B%5D=0&ages_group%5B%5D=17&nb_items=7&group_cancer=1&include_nm sc=1&include_nmsc_other=1&half_pie=0&donut=0#collapse-others [Accessed 02/09/22]

45. Arrieta O, Cardona AF, Martín C, *et al.* 2015. Updated frequency of EGFR and KRAS mutations in nonsmall-cell lung cancer in Latin America: The Latin-American Consortium for the Investigation of Lung Cancer (CLICaP). *J Thorac Oncol* 10(5): 838-43



46. Pichon-Riviere A, Alcaraz A, Palacios A, *et al.* 2020. The health and economic burden of smoking in 12 Latin American countries and the potential effect of increasing tobacco taxes: an economic modelling study. *Lancet Glob Health* 8(10): e1282-e94

47. World Health Organization. 2003. WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. Geneva

48. Ministerio de Salud Chile. 2017. *Informe encuesta nacional de salud 2016-2017* Santiago: Ministerio de Salud Chile

49. Urrutia-Pereira M, Solé D, Chong Neto HJ, *et al.* 2019. Youth tobacco use in Latin America: What is the real extent of the problem? *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)* 47(4): 328-35

50. Pan-American Health Organization. 2018. Tobacco use in adults. Available from: <u>https://www.paho.org/en/enlace/tobacco-use</u> [Accessed 12/08/2022]

51. Figueroa Garcia-Sancho C, Fernandez-Plata R, Rivera-de la Garza S, *et al.* 2012. Humo de leña como factor de riesgo de cáncer pulmonar en población hospitalizada no fumadora. *Neumología y Cirugía de Tórax* 71(4): 325-32

52. Islami F, Torre LA, Jemal A. 2015. Global trends of lung cancer mortality and smoking prevalence. *Translational lung cancer research* 4(4): 327-38

53. International Agency for Research on Cancer. 2020. *World cancer report: Cancer research for cancer prevention.* Lyon: IARC

54. International Early Lung Cancer Action Program Investigators, Henschke CI, Yip R, et al. 2006. Women's susceptibility to tobacco carcinogens and survival after diagnosis of lung cancer. *JAMA* 296(2): 180-84

55. Cardona AF, Mejía SA, Viola L, *et al.* 2022. Lung cancer in Colombia. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology*: 10.1016/j.jtho.2022.02.015: In press

56. de Koning HJ, van der Aalst CM, de Jong PA, *et al.* 2020. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with volume CT screening in a randomized trial. *New England Journal of Medicine* 382(6): 503-13

57. Kauczor HU, Baird AM, Blum TG, et al. 2020. ESR/ERS statement paper on lung cancer screening. *European Respiratory Journal* 55: 1900506

58. Villanti AC, Jiang Y, Abrams DB, *et al.* 2013. A cost-utility analysis of lung cancer screening and the additional benefits of incorporating smoking cessation interventions. *PLOS ONE* 8(8): e71379

59. Goffin JR, Flanagan WM, Miller AB, *et al.* 2016. Biennial lung cancer screening in Canada with smoking cessation-outcomes and cost-effectiveness. *Lung cancer* (*Amsterdam, Netherlands*) 101: 98-103

60. Parsons A, Daley A, Begh R, *et al.* 2010. Influence of smoking cessation after diagnosis of early stage lung cancer on prognosis: systematic review of observational studies with meta-analysis. *BMJ (Clinical research ed)* 340: b5569



61. Lung Cancer Policy Network. 2022. *Lung cancer screening: learning from implementation.* London: Lung Cancer Policy Network

62. World Health Organization. 2017. *Guide to cancer early diagnosis.* Geneva: WHO

63. WHO Regional Office for Europe. 2020. *Screening programmes: a short guide. Increase effectiveness, maximize benefits and minimize harm.* Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe

64. Pan American Health Organization. 2006. *Challenges to the management of human resources for health: 2005-2015.* Washington DC: PAHO

65. Hochhegger B, Camargo S, Borges da Silva Teles G, *et al.* 2022. Challenges of implementing lung cancer screening in a developing country: Results of the Second Brazilian Early Lung Cancer Screening Trial (BRELT2). *JCO Global Oncology*: 10.1200/go.21.00257 (8): e2100257

66. Chiarantano R, Vazquez F, Haikel J, R, *et al.* 2019. EP1.11-06 Design and implementation of an integrated lung cancer prevention and screening program using a mobile CT in Brazil. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology* 14(10): S1009-S10

67. Bradley SH, Abraham S, Callister ME, *et al.* 2019. Sensitivity of chest X-ray for detecting lung cancer in people presenting with symptoms: a systematic review. *Br J Gen Pract* 69(689): e827-e35

68. Goncalves S, Fong PC, Blokhina M. 2022. Artificial intelligence for early diagnosis of lung cancer through incidental nodule detection in low- and middle-income countries-acceleration during the COVID-19 pandemic but here to stay. *Am J Cancer Res* 12(1): 1-16

69. Harrison CJ, Spencer RG, Shackley DC. 2019. Transforming cancer outcomes in England: earlier and faster diagnoses, pathways to success, and empowering alliances. *Journal of healthcare leadership* 11: 1-11

70. Pollock M, Craig R, Chojecki D, et al. 2018. *Initiatives to accelerate the diagnostic phase of cancer care: an environmental scan.* Edmonton, Canada: Institute of Health Economics

71. Obando F. CCSS designs a fast track for the care of patients with suspected lung cancer. Available from: <u>https://primeroennoticias.com/2014/02/19/ccss-disena-via-rapida-para-atencion-de-enfermos-con-sospecha-de-cancer-de-pulmon/</u> [Accessed 12/08/2022]

72. Jeyakumar HS, Wright A. 2020. Improving regional lung cancer optimal care pathway compliance through a rapid-access respiratory clinic. *Intern Med J* 50(7): 805-10

73. Evison M, Hewitt K, Lyons J, *et al.* 2020. Implementation and outcomes of the RAPID programme: Addressing the front end of the lung cancer pathway in Manchester. *Clin Med (Lond)* 20(4): 401-05

74. Ministerio de Salud Chile. Lung cancer in people aged 15 years and over. Available from: <u>https://auge.minsal.cl/problemasdesalud/index/81</u> [Accessed 14/10/22]

75. Arrieta O, López-Mejía M, Macedo-Pérez EO, *et al.* 2016. Proposals for the prevention of lung cancer in the health system of Mexico. *Salud Publica Mex* 58(2): 274-8



76. Ministerio de Salud Chile. What is AUGE? Available from: <u>https://auge.minsal.cl/articulos/que-es-auge</u> [Accessed 14/10/22]